1984

The State of Utah v. Gary Vance Saunder : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant, GARY VANCE SAUNDERS, appeals for the conviction of Burglary, a Second Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-6-202 (1953 as amended); Theft, a Second Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-6-404 (1953 as amended); Possession of a Firearm by a Restricted Person, a Second Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-10-503(2) (1953 as amended); and being a Habitual Criminal, a First Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-8-1001 (1953 as amended).

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The appellant, GARY VANCE SAUNDERS, was tried by jury on December 28-29, 1982, before the Honorable James [redacted] and found guilty of the Burglary, Theft, and Possession of a Firearm by a Restricted Person charges.

On December 30, 1982, appellant was tried before the Court and found guilty of being a Habitual Criminal. Appellant was sentenced to the Utah State Prison for an indeterminate term of 1 to 15 years for the Burglary; 1 to 15 years for the Theft; 1 to 15 years for the Possession of a Firearm, and 5 years to life for the Habitual Criminal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the conviction and judgment rendered below or a remand of the case to the Third Judicial District Court for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

During the early evening of April 23, 1982, a television set, microwave oven, two firearms, a rifle, a box of ammunition, and various items of jewelry were taken from the residence of Mr. and Mrs. Berry Phelps, 1672 East 7000 South, Salt Lake City (T.18). Mrs. Phelps, whose husband was away for the weekend (T.13), was not at home the night of the 24th, having left earlier in the day to stay with a daughter (T.14). One of the firearms and television set were subsequently recovered by the police (T.82, 84).

The State's case was based upon the testimony of Stacy Williams, the brother-in-law of appellant. Mr. Williams who was arrested on May 17, 1982 by Deputy Salt Lake County Sheriff Jim Lunan (T.89), was granted

immunity for his involvement in the burglary and theft of the items from 7000 East 7000 South in return for his testimony concerning the incident (T.40-41, 67). Mr. Williams testified that the appellant participated in both the burglary and theft of the items from the Phelps residence by selecting the place (T.44), springing the lock (T.46), and gathering the items taken (T.49-50). Williams further testified he stored the stolen items at the house of his brother, Timmy Shunk (T.53) and also later sold the guns to a fence, Amos Armijo, and the television to another individual, Marvin Powell (T.56, 57-58). Mr. Williams testified that Mr. Shunk's residence was their "regular place" to store things (T.52), and that Mr. Armijo was "our fence" (T.53).

Several officers testified to a multi-agency operation that resulted in the recovery of items from this burglary from Amos Armijo (T.75-104), and a resulting statement from Stacy Williams (T.90-91). Appellant was not with the Armijos (T.79-80) when they were attempting to drive away with the merchandise.

The appellant did not testify and counsel stipulated to his status as a restricted person, incarcerated at the Utah State Prison and housed in a half-way house at the time of the offense (T.74). Prior to trial, counsel for the appellant made a motion to sever the count of Possession of Firearms by a Restricted Person which was denied by

the Honorable Peter F. Leary on December 21, 1982. The Appellant presented evidence that Timmy Shunk was in fact in jail on April 24, 1982, through two officers involved in keeping the records on inmates in the jail (T.112, 130).

Subsequent to Appellant's conviction on the burglary, theft, and possession of firearm counts, the Court conducted a hearing on the habitual criminal charge. The State introduced prior felony convictions and commitments (Exhibits 7, 8, 9). Case No. 31349, State of Utah v. Gary Vance Saunders and Michael Lee White was at times referred to as Case No. 31149. White's name was stricken at some time, a fact which the State could not clarify (T.172). That conviction was on June 21, 1978, and Mr. Saunders was committed to the prison on June 29, 1978 (Exhibit 7). This exhibit was admitted over defense counsel's objections regarding foundation as to whether the person who certified it actually had custody of the record, whether Appellant was adequately represented by counsel and whether the commitment was properly authenticated without a case number on the sheriff's receipt (T.171-73). Exhibit 8, Case No. 18748, State of Utah v. Gary Vance Saunders, was admitted over defense counsel's objections as to foundation authentication of who wrote the first page and how it became part of the record and the remoteness of the conviction (T.173-73). Appellant's conviction on that offense was on

June 10, 1964, (Exhibit 8). Furthermore, Appellant claimed he pleaded guilty to the 1964 conviction only because he was promised probation by both his attorney and the State's attorney (T.197). He stated he would not have pleaded guilty if he had known he would go to prison (T.198). The State presented no evidence that Mr. Saunders had adequate representation or whether there was a knowing waiver of counsel or his constitutional rights (T.200).

Exhibit 9, Case No. 30202, State of Utah v. Gary Vance Saunders and Buddy Clark Anderson was also admitted in support of the State's habitual criminal charge over defense counsel's objections. Again there was a foundational objection because it could not be verified that the person who certified the record had custody. There was a date change from 1977 to 1976 and there was no evidence as to whose handwriting was on the affidavit. Furthermore, the affidavit stated, "of my own free will I have conferred with my attorney, _____", with no name filled in (T.175-78). The Court subsequently convicted Appellant on the habitual criminal charge.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

IT WAS ERROR TO DENY APPELLANT'S MOTION TO
REVER THE POSSESSION OF A FIREARM COUNT.

Utah Code Ann. §77-35-9(d) (1953 as amended) provides for the removal of offenses where there is a prejudicial

effect:

If it appears that a defendant or the prosecution is prejudiced by a joinder of offenses or defendants in an indictment or information, or by a joinder for trial together, the Court shall order an election of separate trials of separate counts, or grant a severance of defendants, or provide such other relief as justice requires.

In this case, Appellant was greatly prejudiced by the trial of the Possession of a Firearm Count with the Burglary and Theft charges.

The Utah Supreme Court addressed the severance issue in State v. Gotfrey, 598 P.2d 1325 (Utah 1979). In Gotfrey, charges of rape upon the defendant's step-daughters and sodomy involving the step-son were improperly joined. The trial court's erroneous joinder resulted in reversible error. In reversing the Court stated:

The purpose of that statute is to allow joinder of offenses and thus eliminate multiple prosecutions and conserve time and effort when justice can best be served thereby. But care must be taken that the statute is not misused to deprive an accused of a fair trial.

Id. at 1328.

In State v. McCumber, 622 P.2d 353 (1980), the Utah Supreme Court similarly reversed convictions on two separate sexual assaults that were tried together. The Court held that defendant's right to due process of law was violated where the jury had heard evidence relating to the separate offenses. The Court found that the prejudicial impact was too great where the charges were not a single criminal transaction and did not evince a common scheme or design. Id. at 356.

The District of Columbia Court of Appeals announced a similar position in Drew v. United States, 331 F.2d 85 (1964). In Drew, the Court saw judicial economy as the advantage of joinder of offenses. The Court noted four disadvantages: (1) the defendant could become embarrassed or have difficulty in presenting defenses; (2) the jury may infer a criminal disposition and thereby prejudice the defendant; (3) the jury may view the evidence cumulatively; and (4) a prejudicial latent feeling of hostility may surface. Id. at 88. The Court reversed convictions for attempted robbery and robbery on this basis.

Most recently, this Court held that the denial of a Motion to sever a Possession of a Firearm by a Restricted Person Charge from an Aggravated Assault Charge did not amount to a denial of due process. State v. Studham, 655 P.2d 669 (Utah, 1983). The Court, however, did not address the question of whether there was an abuse of discretion in denying the Motion under the statutory terms of Utah Code Ann. §77-35-9(d)

(1953 as amended) as the appellant did not make a timely motion.

In this case, appellant timely moved to have the Possession of a Firearm count severed from the Burglary and Theft charges. While it may not violate due process of law, the appellant was clearly prejudiced by the joinder of these counts. The appellant did not testify. Therefore, no evidence of prior felony convictions was admissible on impeachment grounds. And yet, evidence of his status as an inmate of the Utah State Prison, and thus the obvious inference of a felony conviction, was admissible to prove he was a restricted person. While judicial economy was served by allowing one trial on all of the counts, appellant was denied his statutory right to a severance where he was prejudiced by the joinder of charges. Jurors, as human beings, can hardly be asked to accept evidence of a criminal past for one purpose and not to consider it when viewing the defendant and the case as a whole. The concerns of the Court in Drew v. United States, supra, were present here. There is no way to know whether the jury inferred a criminal disposition by appellant or what prejudices against appellant this evidence created. The policy behind excluding evidence of felony convictions unless the defendant testifies applies here as well. It was an abuse of discretion to deny appellant's motion to sever the counts in this case.

POINT II

IT WAS ERROR TO DENY APPELLANT'S MOTIONS
FOR A MISTRIAL WHEN THE JURY HEARD AND SAW
INADMISSIBLE AND PREJUDICIAL EVIDENCE.

Three times during the trial the jury was exposed to inadmissible and prejudicial evidence. Twice a State's witness referred to multiple burglaries and thefts despite the Court's ruling, pursuant to then Rule 55 of the Utah Rules of Evidence, that such evidence was inadmissible. On another occasion, an unrelated firearm was left sitting on the clerk's desk in full view of the jury. Each incident alone, and in combination, created a prejudicial impact on appellant's case and warranted the declaration of a mistrial.

Prior to trial, the Court ruled that the State could not present evidence of other burglaries unless it established a foundation of materiality and gave the defense an opportunity to object (T.10-11). Nevertheless, the State adduced the following testimony:

Q: Did you have a conversation about the two firearms and the television set and the microwave oven?

A: Yeah.

Q: Who was participating in that conversation?

A: Me and Gary.

Q: Who said what in that conversation?

A: Gary told me, "Well, I got to be going back to the halfway house so I might as well take that stuff home and store it where we are storing it at."

Q: Did you have a regular place to store things?

A: Yeah.

Q: Where was that?

A: My brother's.

Q: What's his name?

A: Timmy Shunk.

Q: (By Mr. Housley) In this conversation that you had at Gary's house, did he tell you what to do after you got it down to the place to store it?

A: Yes.

Q: What did he tell you?

A: He told me to call our fence--his name is Amos-- to see what he wanted to buy.

Q: Amos?

A: Yeah.

(T.52-53). There was no foundation as to materiality and no chance for counsel to object prior to the testimony. During the discussions at the bar, counsel for appellant twice moved for a mistrial, which motions the court denied (T.96-97).

... for mistrial based on the presence of an unrelated ... was similarly denied (T.96).

This Court formulated a two-part test, embodying the former Utah Rules of Evidence 45 and 55, for determining whether evidence of other crimes allegedly committed by a defendant should be allowed to be heard by a jury.¹ The first part of the analysis required a showing that the evidence of other crimes was relevant and probative of a material fact, State v. McCardell, 652 P.2d 942 (Utah 1982); State v. Forsyth, 641 P.2d 1172 (Utah 1982); State v. Kerekes, 622 P.2d 1161 (Utah 1980); State v. Lopez, 22 Utah 2d 257, 451 P.2d 771 (1969). The second part of the analysis required that, if the evidence was relevant and probative, its probative value outweighed its prejudicial effect pursuant to the requirements of the former Rule 45 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. State v. McCardell, supra.

In Forsyth, supra, this Court defined what it meant by the terms "relevant" and "probative". Quoting State v. Harries,

Rule 55 provided: Subject to Rule 47 evidence that a person committed a crime or evil wrong on a specified occasion, is inadmissible to prove his disposition to commit crime or civil wrong as the basis for an inference that he committed another crime or civil wrong on another specified occasion but, subject to Rules 45 and 48, such evidence is admissible when relevant to prove some other material fact including absence of mistake or accident, motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge or identity.

118 Utah 260, 283-84, 231 P.2d 605, 617, (1950) the Court said:

Any pertinent fact which throws light upon the subject under judicial consideration, the accused's guilt or innocence of the crime for which he is charged is admissible.

641 P.2d at 1175. The Court also quoted State v. Scott, 111 Utah 9, 20-21, 175 P.2d 1016, 1021-22 (1947) which stated:

The basic rule of admissibility of evidence is that all evidence having probative value--that is, that tends to prove an issue is admissible....

Id. The Court held in Forsyth that evidence of investors other than the four victims was admissible as to false representations of ownership of real estate, of the amount being raised for development, of the number of investors, and of the overdue status of some of the refunds owing. Evidence that certain investments were not repaid was not admissible, but was held to be harmless error in the case.

Subsequently, in State v. McCardell, supra, this Court held that evidence of the possession of stolen checks from the same owner was admissible against a defendant charged with forgery. The Court held not only that the evidence was relevant to and probative of the defendant's intent and knowledge, but also that the probative value was not substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect pursuant to Rule 45. The latter balancing test is the second part of the analysis.

This Court has held evidence of prior crimes or offenses to be inadmissible where the prejudice is too great under the second prong of the analysis. Evidence that the appellant had been charged with a crime in the past, even though never tried on the charge, was prejudicial error in State v. Hickson, 12 Utah 2d 8, 361 P.2d 412 (1961). Testimony about a prior arrest for a similar crime required reversal in State v. Kazda, 14 Utah 2d 266, 382 P.2d 407 (1963).

In this case, the trial court ruled that evidence of other burglaries was inadmissible unless a foundation was laid by the State on materiality and the defense had an opportunity to object. There is no legal issue as to which category under Rule 55 such evidence might fall under. Instead, there is a factual issue as to whether the testimony and the gun constituted evidence of other burglaries and whether the State met its obligations pursuant to the Court's order.

Each statement and the gun individually, and in combination, created the obvious inference of other burglaries. It does not have a "regular place" for storing stolen items in a house who is so familiar as to be "our fence" unless there are multiple crimes involved. The obvious conclusion to be drawn is that appellant was engaged in other burglaries. This conclusion would have been enhanced by the introduction of an extraneous gun by the jurors.

The State laid no foundation and the defense had no opportunity prior to the introduction of the testimony to argue the issue before the court. At no time did the prosecutor attempt to establish why the references to other burglaries was material. The statements arose during the course of simple inquiries as to where the items from this particular burglary had gone. Moreover, taken by surprise, defense counsel could only move for a mistrial without any opportunity to prevent the introduction of this testimony. The court's order was violated and the denials of the motions for mistrial were error as there was no probative value to the evidence and, even if there was any probative value, it was certainly outweighed by the prejudicial effect of the jury knowing other burglaries had been committed.

The prejudicial effect was further exacerbated as the judge did not strike the witness' statement or instruct the jury to disregard it. Without an instruction of that nature, the evidence is left intact for the jury's consideration. State v. St. Claire, 3 Utah 2d 230, 282 P.2d 323 (1955). Thus the jury was left to consider the key witness' testimony as to other unrelated alleged criminal acts by appellant in determining his guilt or innocence.

The admission of the statements to the jury is not the type of error which can be regarded as a mere irregularity or of such inconsequential nature that it could not have been

prejudicial to the substantial rights of the appellant.
State v. Dickson, supra; State v. Siebert, 6 Utah 2d 198, 310
Utah 388 (1957). Consequently, the failure to declare a
mistrial in this case was error where the logical inference of the
testimony was that the appellant was a bad person, a criminal,
and the testimony served no probative purpose.

POINT III

APPELLANT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL AND THE PRESUMPTION OF INNOCENCE WHEN THREE JURORS VIEWED HIM IN SHACKLES AND PRISON CLOTHES.

On December 29, 1982, the second day of trial, Mr.
Saunders was brought in his prison clothes, in foot chains,
and in handcuffs before three jurors who were waiting out in
the hallway (Supp. T.133). At that point in time, Appellant's
attorney moved for a mistrial in chambers which was denied.

In Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 48 L.Ed. 2d 1194
(1976), the United States Supreme Court stated that a State
cannot compel a defendant to stand trial in identifiable prison
clothes. Although in that case the Court held that there was no
Constitutional violation where defense counsel had failed to
object, the Court viewed forcing defendant to wear prison clothes
as an abridgement of his fundamental rights to due process and
equal protection of the law. The Court further stated that the
presumption of innocence accorded to the defendant is violated
by his wearing prison clothes.

The right to a fair trial is a fundamental
liberty secured by the Fourteenth Amendment.
The presumption of innocence, although not
articulated in the Constitution, is a basic
component of a fair trial under our system
of justice.

[The following [pages omitted]. Close judicial scrutiny is required

to look at any particular procedure. However, with regard to prison clothes, the Court stated:

The potential effects of presenting an accused before the jury in prison attire need not, however, be measured in the abstract. Courts have, with few exceptions, determined that an accused should not be compelled to go to trial in prison or jail clothing because of the possible impairment of the presumption so basic to the adversary system.

Id. at 130 [cites omitted].

The Utah Supreme Court has unequivocally held that a defendant has a right not to stand trial in prison clothes. In Chess v. Smith, 617 P.2d 341 (Utah 1980), the Court remanded a case on a writ of habeas corpus, stating:

The prejudicial effect that flows from a defendant's appearing before a jury in identifiable prison garb is not measurable, and it is so potentially prejudicial as to create a substantial risk of fundamental unfairness in a criminal trial.

Id. at 344. The Utah Court has even gone so far as to require that a judge inquire sua sponte if a defendant wishes to waive the right not to appear in prison clothes.

In this case, the appellant was not in his prison clothes during the trial, but the prejudicial effect was the same. In fact, the prejudicial effect is probably sharper where the jurors see appellant on the second day of trial for the first time in prison clothes and chains. A similar situation occurred in McKenze v. State, 225 S.E.2d 512 (Georgia 1976), where a defendant was brought into the court in prison clothes and handcuffs. Although the Court said that

prison clothes were not prejudicial in a case prosecuting an appellant for escape, it held that the defendant was denied a fair trial due to the handcuffs. The Court said that, where there was no undue security risk, the common law rule applied that the defendant has a right to be tried free of shackles or bonds. In Moore v. State, 535 S.W. 2d 357 (Texas Criminal App. 1976), a Texas Court also reversed where the defendant was brought into the courtroom handcuffed in front of the jury. The Court held that, especially where defendant was not shackled for security reasons during his murder trial, there was no justification for his being viewed by the jury in handcuffs. The defendant's constitutional right to a presumption of innocence was infringed by the jury seeing him shackled.

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