1984

The State of Utah v. Gary Vance Saunder : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESERVE THE SEVERANCE ISSUE FOR APPEAL, AND THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SEVER THE FIREARM COUNT.

Appellant contends that he was prejudiced when the trial judge denied his motion to sever the possession of a firearm by a restricted person charge from the burglary and theft charges brought against him. However, this issue was not raised during the trial, and this Court has held consistently that it is precluded from considering issues raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Sparks, Utah, 672 P.2d 92, 94 (1983); State v. Starlight Club, 17 Utah 2d, 174, 176, 406 P.2d 912 (1965).

A review of the record reveals that appellant's counsel made a preliminary motion before Judge Peter F. Leary requesting severance, which was subsequently denied (T. 138). At trial, before Judge James Sawaya, appellant failed to preserve this issue for appeal. Oklahoma's Court of Criminal Appeals has addressed this issue specifically.

The law is well settled that in order to preserve a question for review in this Court, it must be raised in the lower court and an exception taken to the ruling, preserved in the motion for new trial and presented in the petition of error.

Lovick v. State, Okl. Cr., 646 P.2d 1296, 1298 (1982).

Since appellant failed to take an exception to the denial, and have it preserved for appeal in the record, this issue is improperly before the Court at this time. Assuming, arguendo, that this particular issue had been properly preserved for appeal, it is without merit since the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied appellant's motion to sever the counts.

This Court has established that "[a] denial will be reversed by this Court only if a defendant's right to a fair trial has been impaired." State v. Collins, Utah, 612 P.2d 775 (1980). Furthermore, the decision to grant or deny these severance/joinder motions "[r]ests within the sound discretion of the trial judge, and this Court will not interfere with that discretion unless it is shown to have been clearly abused." State v. Peterson, Utah, ____ P.2d ____, No. 18298 (filed April 13, 1984).

It is the trial court judge who is to "[j]udge whether in a given case the prejudice resulting from joinder is too great to be justified by the broader interests of avoiding duplicative trials." United States v. Jamer, 561 F.2d 1103, 1108 (4th Cir. 1977). If it can be found that the trial court balanced the prejudicial factor with the judicial economy factor when making its decision to deny appellant's motion, then there is no abuse of discretion.

In the instant case, appellant merely speculates that the jury inferred a criminal disposition in appellant, since his charges were not severed. There is simply no proof that the jury was prejudiced against appellant because of the joinder. Moreover, judicial economy was served by joinder of the charges in order to avoid needlessly duplicative trials, since appellant's possession of a firearm by a restricted person charge arose out of the same factual situation as the burglary and theft charges.

Furthermore, in the instant case, the elements relating to each crime were sufficiently distinct so as to minimize the risk that the jury might be confused by cumulating the evidence of the respective charges. There is absolutely no indication that the jury was unable to separate what evidence related to the respective charges nor is there any evidentiary basis for appellant's claim that he was convicted solely by reason of "his criminal disposition." See Drew v. United States, 331 F.2d 85, 91 (1964). In light of the fact that there were legitimate reasons supporting Judge Leary's decision denying appellant's pre-trial severance motion, there was no abuse of discretion.

The cases appellant cites to support his position can be easily distinguished. All of the cases, namely, State v. Gotfrey, Utah, 598 P.2d 1325 (1979), State v. McCumber, Utah, 622 P.2d 353 (1980), and Drew v. United States, 331 F.2d 85 (1964) concern multiple criminal charges that arise out of

separate transactions. The charges were brought together in the trial merely because the defendant was the same person in all the different criminal transactions. The courts found reversible error in each of these cases since the charges were not from a single criminal transaction and did not share a common scheme or design. McCumber at 356, Drew at 93, Gottfrey at 1328.

In the instant case, however, all of the charges arose from one criminal transaction. Moreover, Gottfrey and McCumber dealt with sexual offenses which are inherently prejudicial to a defendant.

The one case appellant cites which is factually similar to his case is State v. Studham, Utah, 655 P.2d 669 (1982), which held that the denial of a motion to sever a possession of a firearm by a restricted person charge from an aggravated assault charge did not amount to a denial of due process.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied appellant's severance motion. Indeed, in the instant case there are good reasons why judicial economy was promoted where the charges arose out of the same criminal transaction and the crimes were simple and distinct, which minimized any potential confusion by the jury. Finally, there was no proof that the jury found appellant guilty of the charges brought against him because they inferred a criminal disposition from his possession of a firearm by a restricted person charge.

POINT II

THE JURY WAS NEVER EXPOSED TO PREJUDICIAL
OR INADMISSABLE EVIDENCE.

Appellant contends that when Stacy Williams, his accomplice, testified as to the location of the stolen goods following the burglary, Williams's response was a direct reference to appellant's prior burglaries. Appellant further argues that Williams's remarks with respect to his having taken the stolen items to "their fence" violated the court's order that the State was obliged to notify both the trial judge and opposing counsel before presenting evidence of appellant's prior crimes. However, it is clear following a review of the transcript that the prosecutor was not questioning Williams regarding appellant's prior crimes; the prosecutor was merely attempting to determine where appellant had taken the stolen goods following this particular burglary. Therefore, the prosecutor did not violate the trial judge's order requiring prior notification before admitting evidence under then applicable Rule 55, Utah Rules of Evidence (Supp. 1978).

The dialogue between the prosecutor and Williams is as follows:¹

¹Appellant, in his brief, mischaracterized the nature of Williams's testimony by omitting defense counsel's objections.

Q. Did you have a conversation about the two firearms and the television and the microwave oven?

A. Yeah.

Q. Who was participating in that conversation?

A. Me and Gary. [appellant]

Q. Who said what in that conversation?

A. Gary told me, "Well, I got to be going back to the halfway house so I might as well take that stuff down and store it where we were storing it at."

Q. Did you have a regular place to store things?

A. Yeah.

Q. Where was that?

A. My brother's.

Q. What's his name?

A. Timmy Shunk.

MS. CARTER: I have an objection. May we approach the bench?

(Off-the-record discussion held at the bench).

Q. (By Mr. Housley) In this conversation that you had at Gary's house, did he tell you what to do after you got it down to the place to store it?

A. Yes.

Q. What did he tell you?

A. He told me to call our fence--his name is ARMS--to see what he wanted to buy.

Q. Amos?

A. Yeah.

MS. CARTER: Your Honor, may we approach the bench again, just briefly?

THE COURT: You are going to wear that rug out.

(Off-the-record discussion held at the bench)

Q. (By Mr. Housely) Do you know Amos's name?

A. Yes.

Q. What is it?

A. Amos Armijo.

Q. After you had that conversation with Mr. Saunders, what did you do?

A. I did what he told me.

Q. Tell us what you did.

A. I took the stuff down to my brother's.

(T. 52, 53).

Williams's testimony was obviously elicited for the purpose of establishing the course of events the night of the burglary, and more specifically in this portion, the purpose was to establish where the stolen goods had been taken. Furthermore, even if Williams's "our fence" and "regular place" comment could be interpreted as referring to appellant's prior wrongs, this evidence was not so prejudicial to constitute reversible error. This Court has previously held that evidence relevant to explain the circumstances of a crime is admissible even though it might

and to connect the defendant with a prior wrong. State v. Campelo, Utah, 584 P.2d 880 (1978). See also, State v. Spivey, 22 Utah 2d 257, 451 P.2d 772 (1969).

More specifically, in Alger v. State, Okla. Cr., 603 P.2d 1154 (1980), the court addressed the effect to be given a voluntary, tangential remark by a witness. The defendant in Alger was on trial for taking indecent liberties with a minor. The victim's mother was called as a witness. During her testimony, in response to a question, the witness made a general reference to "it having happened before" with the defendant. Defense counsel argued that the statement was prejudicial. The court said:

There is only an implication of another crime which is obvious only to defense counsel. To extend the protection of the rule to every possible implication which might be conceived by defense counsel is to extend the rule to far. Id. at 1156, quoting Burks v. State, Okla. Cr., 568 p.2d 322 (1977).

Williams's statement parallels the type of statement at issue in Alger; a somewhat tangential remark made in response to a question. Appellant was given adequate opportunity to rebut Williams's testimony and impeach Williams's credibility. The jury weighed the conflicting testimony and rendered its verdict. There is absolutely nothing to indicate that the jury based its verdict on William's statements that he was to take the stolen goods to his brother's home and then call Amos, "there hence." Furthermore, Williams's statements are not

sufficiently prejudicial under the then applicable standards of Rules 4 and 45, Utah Rules of Evidence, to warrant a mistrial.

Rule 4 provides, in pertinent part:

A verdict shall not be set aside, nor shall the judgment or decision based thereon, by reason of the erroneous admission of evidence unless . . . the court which passes upon the effect of the error or errors is of the opinion that the admitted evidence should have been excluded on the grounds stated and probably had a substantial influence in bringing about the verdict or finding. (emphasis added).

Therefore, the defendant must make some showing that the verdict was directly and substantially influenced by the challenged testimony, "Under Rule 4, . . . an erroneous admission of evidence is treated as harmless error absent a showing that it had a substantial influence in bringing about the verdict." State v. Malmrose, Utah, 649 P.2d 56, 59 (1982).

In State v. Creviston, Utah, 646 P.2d 750 (1982), the defendant was on trial for the sale of a controlled substance. In response to the prosecutor's question concerning the price of the cocaine, a police officer testified that the price was lower than usual because the defendant owed money to the State Narcotic and Provo Police Departments. The defendant objected to the remark as prejudicial and stated it would cause the jury to perceive him as a regular drug dealer and hardened criminal. This Court held, however, that the police officer's remark was not the type of statement which would be unduly

prejudicial to the defendant. See also, State v. Dodge, 12 Utah 2d 293, 365 P.2d 798 (1961).

A jury verdict should not be overturned in spite of error if it can be fairly concluded that the error had no prejudicial effect on the complaining party. The verdict should only be overturned when the error is so substantial or prejudicial that in its absence there would likely have been a different result. State v. Urias, Utah, 609 P.2d 1326 (1980).

Rule 45 makes clear that the admission of evidence is discretionary with the trial court. The judge may choose to exclude evidence if he finds the risk that its admission will ". . . create substantial danger of undue prejudice." (emphasis added). Although a judge may exclude evidence, he should do so only after concluding that an injustice will result by its admission. This Court:

. . . respects [the trial judge's] prerogative in that regard and will not interfere with his ruling unless it clearly appears that he so abused his discretion that there is a likelihood that an injustice resulted.

State v. Dankers, Utah, 599 P.2d 518, 520 (1979).

This position is reiterated by the Court in State v. McCordell, Utah, 652 P.2d 942 (1982) in which the Court stated that the issue was not whether the evidence created prejudice, but whether it created undue prejudice. Furthermore, it is the function of the trial court to determine the prejudicial effect of the admission.

At the conclusion of Williams's testimony, defense counsel moved for a mistrial and was given the opportunity to argue the prejudicial effect of Williams's testimony to Judge Sawaya (T. 96). The motion was denied leading to the inference that the trial court weighed Williams's alleged prejudicial statement in the testimony and found it insufficiently prejudicial to warrant a mistrial.

Appellant cites two cases which held that the evidence admitted to establish prior crimes was prejudicial and therefore inadmissible. However, State v. Dickson, 12 Utah 2d 8, 361 P.2d 412 (1961) and State v. Kazda, 14 Utah 2d 266, 382 P.2d 407 (1963) can be distinguished from this case since they address the rare situation when the evidence of prior crimes referred to criminal charges that had been dismissed or had not yet been tried. In this situation where Williams was merely explaining what had been done with the stolen goods, there was no reference to appellant's tried or untried prior crimes.

Appellant also argues that the presence of an unrelated firearm on the evidence table prejudiced the jury against him. However, there is no proof that the jury even saw the firearm. Judge Sawaya said when denying appellant's motion for a mistrial.

The gun, of course, was inadvertent. I don't put much store in the fact that it happened because I am not even sure the jury saw it. It was just like on the table. There is no way they can connect it up with the evidence in this case. The only evidence presented to them was the one of relevance.

(T. 97).

Thus, neither the unrelated firearm nor Williams's testimony can be regarded as so severely prejudicial to the appellant to mandate reversible error.

POINT III

APPELLANT'S PRESUMPTION OF INNOCENCE
WAS NOT DENIED WHEN THREE JURORS SAW
APPELLANT IN HIS PRISON CLOTHES AND
SHACKLES OUTSIDE THE COURTROOM.

In the morning, before the second day of trial began, appellant was escorted from the elevators in the Third Judicial District Court Building to a dressing room where he was to change from his prison garb to his street clothing for trial (R. 508-511). When he stepped off the elevator, three jurors, who were standing, coincidentally, near the elevator waiting for the trial to begin, saw appellant for a few seconds in his prison attire and shackles (R. 508-511). As a result, later that same morning in the judge's chambers, appellant's counsel moved for a mistrial (T. 133). Counsel argued that the jurors's momentary observation of appellant in his prison attire outside the courtroom violated appellant's presumption of innocence. Judge Sawaya denied this motion (T. 133). A month after the trial, appellant's counsel made a motion to arrest judgment and asked the court to consider the issue (R. 504). The trial judge said he could not do anything "point of re-arguing it" but did allow the witness, Ron Johnson, Transportation Officer at the Utah State Prison, to

testify (R. 505, 506). Mr. Solomon testified that he had escorted appellant to the dressing room to change clothes, according to the routine, but when they stepped off the elevator en route to the dressing room, three jurors standing near the elevator saw appellant for a few seconds (R. 510). Following this testimony, the motion to arrest judgment on this point was denied (R. 262). Again, appellant argues that he was prejudiced after viewing appellant in his prison attire and shackles, and he is therefore entitled to a new trial.

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